# Bylaws of Campo Verde High School Choir Boosters

(Adopted 12 September 2022)

# ARTICLE I: NAME, DESCRIPTION, & PURPOSE

Section 1: NAME - - The name of the Booster Organization shall be Campo Verde High School Choir Boosters.

Section2: DESCRIPTION - - The Booster Organization is a nonprofit organization that exists for charitable and educational purposes under section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code.

Section 3: PURPOSE - - The purpose of the Booster Organization is to enhance and support the educational experience of students involved in the Campo Verde High School choir program by volunteering and providing financial support.

## ARTICLE II: MEMBERSHIP

Membership shall be open to all parents and guardians of enrolled participants in the choir program. Instructors and staff may also participate as non-voting members. Each parent/guardian member may vote to approve the budget and/or participate in the election of officers (see Article V, Section 2).

## ARTICLE III: BASIC POLICIES

Section 1: No part of the net earnings of the organization shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to, its members, directors, trustees, officers or other private persons except to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments in furtherance of the purposes of the organization.

Section 2: The organization shall not participate in any way in any political campaign on behalf of or in opposition to any candidate for public office; or devote more than an insubstantial part of its activities to attempting to influence legislation.

Section 3: Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the organization shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on by an organization exempt from Federal Income tax under section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue code.

## ARTICLE IV: OFFICERS AND THEIR ELECTIONS

Section 1: OFFICERS – The Officers shall consist of the following: President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, and one Board Member at Large. Immediate family members (i.e.: parent and child, spouses or partners, siblings) cannot serve as Officers simultaneously.

Section 2: TERM OF OFFICE – The term of office for all officers is approximately one year, beginning upon election and ending May 31 of the following year. This allows for an intentional overlap of outgoing and newly elected officers. Voting in this month shall include all outgoing and incoming officers.

Section 3: QUALIFICATIONS – Each Officer must be a member of this Booster Organization. The President should have previous experience volunteering with the organization. The Board Member at Large shall be a member willing to be a candidate for an Officer position in a subsequent year.

#### Section 4: ELECTIONS -

a. The Officers will send out notice of elections to the General Membership at least two weeks prior to elections, soliciting candidates for Officer positions. One week prior to the election, the Officers shall compile a ballot of all willing candidates including at least one eligible person for each office. At that time the ballot will be closed, and notification will be given to the membership of the nominees running for Office. (All nominees must give prior consent to serve.)

b. Officers for the upcoming year shall be elected by ballot in the fourth quarter of the school year in a General Membership meeting. If there is but one nominee for any office, election for that office may be by voice vote. Three volunteers at the General Membership Meeting where the election takes place shall be appointed to tally the votes and present the results to the Membership. A majority vote rules.

#### Section 5: DUTIES -

<u>Officers</u>: Develop the Booster Organization's annual budget, establish and oversee committees to conduct the work of the organization, establish fundraising events, and approve expenditures. Establish and maintain specific annual goals and direction relative to the Purpose of the Organization.

<u>President</u>: Preside at General Membership meetings and Officer meetings, serve as the official representative of the organization, retain all official records of the organization, oversee the running of the Organization, and file the annual AZ Corporation Commission report.

<u>Vice President</u>: Assist the President and chair meetings in the President's absence. Act as general liaison with any specialized Organization committees.

<u>Secretary:</u> Record and distribute/post Minutes of all Officer meetings and all General Membership meetings, prepare agendas for official meetings, keep records of the organization, manage communications and marketing of the organization, including but not limited to newsletters, emails, website, etc. unless otherwise delegated to another officer or chairperson.

<u>Treasurer</u>: Serve as the custodian of the organization's finances, collect revenue, pay authorized expenses according to the approved budget, follow all financial policies of the organization (\*including two signatures on each check or disbursement), retain all financial records, and file the appropriate tax return with the IRS for the previous year's fiscal year before November. (Usually the 990-N, e-postcard)

<u>Board Member at Large:</u> Assist all officers with duties assigned. Act as general liaison with any specialized Organization committees. This officer may be appointed to fill an officer vacancy should one arise.

Section 6: REMOVAL – An officer can be removed from office for failure to abide by these bylaws, failure to fulfill his/her duties, or for conduct negatively affecting the organization upon given reasonable notice and by majority vote of the remaining officers.

Section 7: VACANCY – If a vacancy occurs, the remaining Officers shall appoint a member to fulfill the vacancy for the remainder of the vacated term. Unfilled positions after an election will count as a vacancy.

# ARTICLE V: MEETINGS

#### Section 1: OFFICER MEETINGS

- 1. Meetings shall be held as often as necessary to conduct the affairs of the organization.
- 2. Meetings shall be closed, except upon invitation by the President or majority of the Officers.
- 3. A quorum is constituted by a majority of the Officers. A majority of votes rule unless otherwise specified in these bylaws.
- 4. Officers are expected to attend all meetings until adjournment, except when excused. Excessive absences may be grounds for removal.

#### Section 2: GENERAL MEMBERSHIP MEETINGS

- 1. General Membership Meetings will be held at least twice a year, once at the beginning of the school year for approving the Budget and the second at the end of the school year for elections.
- 2. General Membership Meetings shall be announced through emails to members, the Organization website, and social media accounts.
- 3. Each parent/guardian receives one vote. Absentee and proxy votes are not allowed.
- 4. Meetings shall be open to all members and invited guests.
- 5. A quorum is constituted by those who are in attendance, including a majority of the officers.
- 6. Majority of votes rule unless otherwise specified in these bylaws.

#### Section 3: SPECIAL MEETINGS

- 1. Special meetings for the Officers or the General Membership may be called by the President or by written request to the President from the majority of the Officers.
- 2. Notice will be sent to members holding voting powers for that meeting giving date, time, place, and the purpose of the meeting at least three (3) days prior to holding the meeting.
- 3. Bylaws mentioned for each type of meeting will still apply.

#### Section 4: TECHNOLOGY MEETINGS

- 1. Officer or General meetings may be held through the use of technology as long as members participating are capable of hearing and speaking during the meeting.
- 2. Any business approved at a technology meeting is the same as if it took place in person.
- 3. Bylaws mentioned for each type of meeting will still apply.

#### Section 5: ACTION WITHOUT A MEETING

Officers may conduct business via telephone conferencing, text, or email on needed business between meetings. Email/Text voting should NOT be used for controversial motions. Electronic voting shall be conducted in the following manner:

- 1. All Officers must be notified of the motion.
- 2. After a 24-hour period for response and discussion or once all have responded, the President may call for the vote.
- 3. The motion needs a 2/3-majority vote to pass.
- 4. All votes must be documented and added to the Minutes of the next meeting for official approval.

# ARTICLE VI: FINANCIAL POLICIES

Section 1: FISCAL YEAR – The fiscal year of the Booster Organization begins July 1 and ends June 30 of the following year.

Section 2: BANKING – All funds shall be kept in a checking account in the name of Campo Verde High School Choir Boosters, requiring two Officer signatures on each check, and held at a local financial institution agreed upon by the Officers.

Section 3: REPORTING – All financial activity shall be recorded in a computer-based accounting system. The Treasurer shall reconcile the account(s) monthly and submit a financial report at all Officer and General Meetings. The Organization shall arrange for a review of its financial records each year by a financial review committee which consists of at least two individuals who are not signers on the account.

Section 4: ENDING BALANCE – The organization shall leave a minimum of \$5000 in the treasury at the end of each fiscal year.

Section 5: BUDGET – The Officers shall present to the General Membership at the first meeting of the year a budget of anticipated revenue and expenses for the year for approval. Members present constitute a quorum and majority of votes rule. This budget serves as approval for the Officers to expend the funds of the organization as presented and approved. The budget stands until the next budget is approved. Minor amendments to the budget may be approved by the Officers and then ratified by the General Membership. Each budget determined by the board shall define a substantial deviation, according to the current year's budget and local economy, above which full re-approval of the budget will be required.

Section 5: CONTRACTS – Authority to sign contracts is limited to the President or the President's designee.

## ARTICLE VII: BYLAWS AMENDMENTS

Amendments to the bylaws may be proposed by any booster member. Amendments must be voted on by the General Membership. The bylaws may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the organization by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting, providing fourteen (14) day notice of the amendment has been given. A revised set of bylaws may replace the existing bylaws under the same requirements of amending a bylaw.

## ARTICLE VIII: DISSOLUTION

Upon the dissolution of the organization, the assets remaining after payment (or provision for payment) of all debts and liabilities of this organization, shall be distributed for one or more of the exempt purposes specified in Section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code, or corresponding section of any future tax code, which supports the Purpose listed in Article I of these bylaws.

## ARTICLE XI: PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

This organization shall refer to the current issue of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised for direction and in resolving matters of conflict.